IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NARCUS S. WESLEY

Appellant,

Nevada Supreme Court Case No.: 52127

v.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

District Court Case No.: C232494 District Court Dept. No.: XXIV

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

FILED

AUG 0 5 2009

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction and Sentence in the Eighth Judicial District Court)

DAN M. WINDER, ESQ. Nevada Bar #1569 Arnold Weinstock, Esq. Nevada Bar No: 000810 3507 W. Charleston Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 (702) 474-0523

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Did the Trial Court's Admission of the Statements of Delarian Wilson violate Narcus Wesley's Right to a fair trial?
- B. Was the admission of Delarian Wilson's guilty plea during Narcus Wesley's trial reversible error?
- C. Did Narcus Wesley's counsel commit fatal error which mandates this Court to sua sponte reverse Wesley's conviction?
 - D. Was the trial court's failure to grant Narcus Wesley's Motion to Suppress clear error?
- E. Was sufficient evidence presented to the jury to support the conviction of Narcus Wesley beyond a reasonable doubt?
 - F. Was the sentence imposed upon Narcus Wesley cumulative and excessive?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant, Narcus Wesley was convicted of eighteen (18) counts, ranging from five (5) counts of sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon to two (2) counts of conspiracy. His conviction was obtained in a trial that was in violation of the fundamental fairness guaranteed by the United States and Nevada Constitutions because he was convicted primarily based upon the statements and actions of his co-defendant, Delarian Wilson, who was not tried with Wesley due to his prior plea to three (3) counts. Wesley was deprived of his right to adequate assistance of trial counsel due to his counsels unauthorized activities in admitting Wesley's guilt to the jury. Numerous other clear constitutional errors occurred during Wesley's trial. Based upon all those errors Wesley's Judgment of Conviction must be revered and Wesley must be granted a new trial. In addition, there was insufficient evidence to sustain the convictions and Wesley's Judgment of Conviction must be vacated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about February 23, 2007, a criminal complaint was filed in Justice Court, Henderson Township charging Delarian K. Wilson (hereinafter referred to as "Wilson") and Appellant herein, NARCUS S. WESLEY (hereinafter referred to as "WESLEY") in a 16 count complaint over an incident which allegedly occurred on or about February 18, 2007. (See Appellant's Appendix (hereinafter referred to as "A.A.")pg 1-7). On or about April 17, 2007, that complaint was amended by adding two additional counts. (See A.A. 8-15).

After a Preliminary Hearing in Henderson Justice Court, both defendants were bound over to District Court, and on or about April 20, 2007 an Information was filed in Department 24 before the Honorable Judge James Bixler charging each defendant with 18 counts. (See A.A. 16-24). Both defendants were arraigned and entered not guilty pleas to all counts. On March 6, 2008, a Motion to Sever Defendants was filed by Appellant WESLEY and granted by the Court. (See A.A. 25-29).

Prior to Trial, on March 1, 2008, WESLEY filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of an Illegal Search. (A.A. 30-57). This Motion was opposed by the State (A.A. 58-79). Thereafter, defendant

Wilson changed his plea and entered a guilty plea to two counts of Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon and one count of Sexual Assault. (A.A. pg 90-102). Upon Wilson's plea, on April 10,2008 the State filed a Second Amended Information charging WESLEY with committing all 18 counts alleged. (A.A. 103-112).

Since Wilson entered his plea, leaving WESLEY as the only defendant, and since the court had not ruled on WESLEY's Motion to Suppress Fruits of an Illegal Search, on March 25, 2008, WESLEY filed a Motion to Continue Trial. (A.A. pg 113-115). Nonetheless, on April 9, 2008 WESLEY's trial began with a <u>Franks</u> hearing. The Trial concluded on April 18, 2008 and at 2:53 p.m. on that date, a jury returned with a verdict finding WESLEY guilty on all 18 counts. (A.A. pg. 116-121).

On July 3, 2008, WESLEY was sentenced by Judge Bixler as follows: Count One Conspiracy to Commit Burglary, Twelve months in the Clark County Detention Center (CCDC); Count Two Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Seventy-Two - One Hundred Eighty months in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDC); Counts Three and Eleven, Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon, Seventy-Two to One Hundred Eighty months in NDC; Counts Four, Six, Seven. and Nine, Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon, Sixty to One Hundred Eighty months in NDC with a consecutive Sixty to One Hundred Eighty months for Use of a Deadly Weapon; Counts Five and Eight, Assault With a Deadly Weapon, Twenty-Four to Seventy-Two months in NDC; Count Ten, First Degree Kidnaping, Seventy-Two to One Hundred Eight months at NDC with a consecutive term of Seventy-Two to One Hundred Eight months; Counts Twelve, Thirteen, Fourteen, Fifteen and Seventeen, Sexual Assault With Use of a Deadly Weapon, Ten to Life at the NDC with a consecutive Eight - Twenty years for Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count Sixteen Coercion With Use of a Deadly Weapon, Twenty-Four - Seventy-Two months at the NDC with a consecutive Twenty-Four to Seventy-Two months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon and Count Eighteen, Open and Gross Lewdness With Use of a Deadly Weapon, Twelve months at the CCDC. All sentences were ordered to run concurrent and WESLEY received credit for One Hundred Eighty-Five days

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

served. (A.A. pg. 122-126).

2

3

4

5

7

8

9

11

12

13

15

19

20

22

23

24

25

26

Unhappy with that sentence, the State appealed Judge Bixler's sentence alleging that the sentences in Counts Twelve, Thirteen, Fourteen, Fifteen and Seventeen were improper. On September 23, 2008, pursuant to the States Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence, the Court amended its sentences on Counts Twelve, Thirteen, Fourteen, Fifteen and Seventeen giving WESLEY five additional sentences of Ten to Life in lieu of the Court's original sentences of Eight to Twenty years for Use of a Deadly Weapon. (A.A. pg. 127-132). The instant Appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 9, 2009, WESLEY's Trial began with a Franks hearing outside the presence of the jury in support of WESLEY's Motion to Suppress the Fruits of an Illegal Search. (A.A. pg. 133-248). The State called Detective Curtis Weske of the Henderson Police Department. Detective Weske was investigating a crime which had occurred on February 18, 2007. Ultimately as part of his investigation, Detective Weske developed the name of Delarian Wilson as one of the possible suspects in a crime. (A.A. pg. 150). Mr. Wilson was subsequently found at Circus Circus arrested, and questioned by the Henderson Police Officers. (A.A. pg. 157). Mr. Wilson allegedly admitted that he was at the crime scene and gave the name NARCUS as the person who was with him. (A.A. pg. 160). The next day, it was determined that Wilson was referring to NARCUS WESLEY, who allegedly lived at 2372 Valley Drive in Las Vegas. (A.A. pg. 162). Detective Weske called Nevada Power and was told that power at Valley Drive had been turned off and re-turned on at 4232 Gay Lane. Detective Weske went to Gay Lane and filled out an Affidavit for a Search Warrant. (A.A. pg. 165). SWAT entered the residence and brought NARCUS WESLEY out. (A.A. pg. 166). WESLEY's father was also there, asked for a copy of the Search Warrant, and noticed that the Warrant was wrong since the power was in his name, Narbiz, not NARCUS'. (A.A. pg. 169). Despite that fact, NARCUS was arrested and booked. It was not until the next day that Detective Weske noticed that the Subpoena had an asterisk and stated "Please note. Individuals first name is different from your request." (A.A. pg. 170, see also A.A. pg. 1203).

27

On cross examination, Detective Weske admitted that his Affidavit for Search Warrant listed the wrong Social Security Number for WESLEY. (A.A. pg. 186). Detective Weske also admitted that he called SWAT before receiving a Search Warrant. (A.A. pg. 189). Finally, in reading Mr. WESLEY his Miranda Rights, Detective Weske admitted that he never asked WESLEY if he waived his Miranda Rights. (A.A. pg. 199).

Mr. Narviez Wesley, NARCUS' father, testified that after SWAT entered his house and NARCUS was taken from his bedroom, Narviez Wesley asked to call his family attorney before anyone talked to the police. (A.A. pg. 226). In response, Narviez testified that Detective Weske told him they did not need an attorney there. (A.A. pg. 226). NARCUS' stepmother, Angela Wesley also testified that she recalled her husband Narviez asking to call their family attorney while NARCUS was sitting beside them, before NARCUS was interrogated. (A.A. pg. 230). Finally, NARCUS WESLEY testified at the hearing that he was present when his father asked to call the family attorney before NARCUS was questioned and the request was refused by Detective Weske. (A.A. pg. 232). Nonetheless, WESLEY's Motion to Suppress was denied by the Court. (A.A. pg 247).

Thereupon, the Trial started with Jury Selection. (A.A. pg. 364-743). Upon seating of the jury, WESLEY's counsel made a <u>Batson</u> challenge regarding the State's striking of proposed juror Stephanie Abernathy, an African-American female. (A.A. pg. 748). Although the State gave several feeble explanations for Ms. Abernathy's excusal, (A.A. pg. 749-750), the judge summarily denied the Batson Challenge and ordered the Trial to proceed. (A.A. pg. 750).

The trial proceeded to opening argument. In his initial address to the jury panel, WESLEY's counsel made the following statement: "As the State said, and they are correct. Danielle Browning was raped. Many of those kids were robbed. One of those kids was kidnaped. They were terrorized for an upwards of two hours. They had guns waived in their faces." (A.A. pg. 802, lines 11-14, emphasis added).

The State called numerous witnesses to testify including the following: DANIELLE BROWNING, one of the alleged victims, testified that in February, 2007 she was living in a house

on Great Dane in Henderson, Nevada with her boyfriend Justin and several of his friends. (A.A. pg 816). There was a knock on the bedroom door and the person was told to come in. (A.A. pg. 818). A short, stocky African-American with a gun came in and told Danielle and her boyfriend to go to the living room and lie down on the floor. (A.A. pg. 820). In the living room there was a taller, skinnier African-American. (A.A. pg. 823). Without objection from WESLEY's counsel, Danielle constantly referred to the two African-Americans as "they" not specifically separating the actions from one or the other. (A.A. pg. 818-827).

Danielle testified that the stockier guy took Ryan to an ATM. (A.A. pg. 828). The skinnier guy was told to stay and "make sure that they didn't leave or call the cops." (A.A. pg. 830). While Ryan and the shorter stockier guy were gone, the taller thinner guy "just stood above us, kinda pacing." (A.A. pg. 830). After about twenty minutes, Ryan and the shorter, stockier guy returned and the shorter, heavier guy said they were ninety percent done and the other ten percent was up to Danielle. (A.A. pg. 831). The shorter stockier guy said he wanted Danielle to perform oral sex on her boyfriend. The shorter, stockier guy "took over." (A.A. pg. 832). Her boyfriend could not get hard and the shorter stockier guy "was getting mad." (A.A. pg. 834). Upon questioning by the State, Danielle proceeded to identify WESLEY as the taller, skinnier guy by body type only. (A.A. pg. 850).

On cross examination, Danielle testified that the taller guy did nothing and the stockier guy was in charge of the situation, including asking for PIN numbers. (A.A. pg. 852-854). It was the shorter guy that made statements about Danielle and her boyfriend having sex, (A.A. pg. 856), and it got even scarier when the stockier guy said "if someone does not perform, or get it on, someone is going to be killed." (A.A. pg. 860). Finally, Danielle admitted that she didn't know if the skinnier guy had a gun. (A.A. pg. 867).

The State called numerous other witnesses, including all of the victims. All victims testified in similar fashion, with all agreeing that the shorter, stockier guy was in charge throughout the proceedings with the taller skinnier guy remaining quiet throughout most of this incident. (A.A. pg.

893, pg. 980, pg. 1000, pg. 1014, pg. 1023). During the time the short stockier gentleman was gone, the taller skinnier guy did nothing but appear nervous. (A.A. pg.920, pg. 984). All victims testified it was the shorter, stockier guy that was getting angrier and making threats to them. (A.A. pg. 906, pg. 948). None of the victims ever testified to seeing the taller, skinnier guy's face, and they could all only identify him based on his body build. (A.A. pg. 926, pg. 987, pg. 1014, pg. 1020-21). In fact, they all testified that they kept their faces down, and as Ryan Tognotti testified, "Throughout the whole process, he never really got a good look at WESLEY's face at all." (A.A. pg. 99).

The sexual assault nurse who examined Danielle Browning after the incident, LINDA EBBERT, testified that she did not find any trauma upon Danielle. (A.A. pg. 1008). Thereafter, a variety of Henderson Police Officers and Detectives were called. Each police witness talked primarily about their involvement with Delarian Wilson and not NARCUS WESLEY, including KENT TIMOTHY, a latent print examiner who testified to four (4) recovered prints which matched to Delarian Wilson, and none which matched to NARCUS WESLEY. (A.A. pg. 1063).

Detective CURTIS WESKE of the Henderson Police Department testified and identified a photograph of Delarian Wilson taken on February 19, 2007 at the Clark County Jail. (A.A. pg. 1073). Again, there was no objection made by WESLEY's counsel. Detective Weske also testified about his conversation with Donna Lamont of Nevada Power, who told him about an address at 4232 Gay Avenue for NARCUS WESLEY. (A.A. pg. 1074). Again, there was no objection from WESLEY's counsel. Detective Weske also testified as to preparing an Affidavit and obtaining a Search Warrant for the residence on Gay Avenue. (A.A. pg. 1076).

Defense counsel thereupon objected and asked for a hearing outside the jury's presence due to a clear evidentiary violation. There was testimony about a rifle being found during the search of the Gay Avenue address. Defense counsel objected because a clear conflict of interest arose since the rifle belonged to NARCUS' father, Narviel Wesley, who was an ex-felon and had been represented by the Public Defender's Office. (A.A. pg. 1079). The idea that a rifle which was admittedly <u>not</u> used in the crime was seized and that NARCUS resided with an ex-felon who had

1 b
2 A
3 tt
4 (4
5 d
6 w
7 "

been represented by the Public Defender was clearly prejudicial to NARCUS WESLEY's interest. A Request for Mistrial was timely made by NARCUS' counsel. (A.A. pg. 1079). The court denied the Mistrial stating "There's not going to be a Mistrial. You are not going to get off of this case." (A.A. pg. 1081). Detective Weske continued testifying and on cross-examination admitted that during his interview with Delarian Wilson, Mr. Wilson told him of a person named "Christopher" who had committed the crime with him, and that Christopher had a gun. In fact, Wilson said that "he stayed at the house while Christopher went to the ATM." (A.A. pg. 1094).

Thereupon, defense counsel requested the admission of Wilson's Guilty Plea and Plea Agreement before the jury. (A.A. pg. 1096-1101). Defense counsel also wanted to play a CD of Wilson's statements to the police, but the court ordered the first seventy-five pages of that statement redacted. (A.A. pg. 1101). Again, WESLEY was never asked by the court whether he knew of, consented to, or approved of his attorney's tactics. Finally, defense counsel had Detective Weske reiterate all the crimes to which WESLEY admitted to in his interview with Detective Weske. (A.A. pg. 1106).

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I.

THE STATEMENTS OF DELARIAN WILSON CANNOT BE USED AS A BASIS UPON WHICH TO CONVICT NARCUS WESLEY

Throughout the Trial, a majority of the evidence presented to the jury involved alleged statements made by Delarian Wilson. Wilson was not present at Trial, and his hearsay statements were presented through various witnesses. However, at the heart of the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution is a preference for live testimony and cross-examination. See United States Constitution, Amendment Six; <u>DeRosa v. First Judicial District Court</u>, 115 Nev. 225, 985 P. 2d 157 (1999).

Although at one point, Wilson was WESLEY's co-defendant, Wilson chose to enter a guilty plea to Three (3) counts prior to Trial and would not testify at WESLEY's Trial. If Wilson had not plead out, his statements would not be admissible at Trial against his co-defendant, WESLEY. See

The Nevada Supreme Court has previously held that the right of confrontation prevents the use at a joint trial of a non-testifying defendant's admission if it incriminates another defendant. Rodriguez v. State, 117 Nev. 800, 32 P. 3d 773 (2001). If Wilson's statements could not be used at a joint trial, they certainly could not be used at WESLEY's trial without WESLEY having the opportunity to confront and cross-examine Wilson over those statements. As this Court has stated, "Under Bruton, a defendant's rights are violated when the State introduces a non-testifying co-defendant's confession or statements incriminating a defendant." Franco v. State, 109 Nev. 1229, 866 P 2d 247 (1993); Duckworth v. State, 114 Nev. 951, 966 P. 2d 165 (1998).

In the instant case, a vast majority of the evidence incriminating WESLEY were statements attributed to Wilson. Every victim testified that Wilson was in charge throughout the incident, and that WESLEY rarely said anything. Although several witnesses identified WESLEY at trial, those identifications were suspect at best, since each witness testified that their face was down and that the never viewed WESLEY's face. Absent the statements and confessions of Wilson, WESLEY could never have been convicted beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, on that basis alone, a reversal is warranted.

II.

THE ADMISSION OF DELARIAN WILSON'S GUILTY PLEA DURING NARCUS WESLEY'S TRIAL WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR

Trumping the admission of Delarian Wilson's statements and admissions, the Court inexplicably allowed the jury to hear a re-enactment of Delarian Wilson's guilty plea including his factual basis therefore. Such testimony is clearly inadmissable and mandates a reversal of WESLEY's conviction and a Remand for New Trial.

Numerous states have recognized the impropriety of such a practice. The Colorado Appeals Court has held that "A guilty plea or conviction of a co-defendant may not be used as substantive evidence of another defendant's guilt." People v. Brunner, 797 P. 2d 788 (Colo. App. 1990). The Oregon Court has held that a co-defendant's conviction resulting from the same transaction generally

may not be introduced as substantive evidence of a defendant's guilt. State v. Clark, 779 P 2d 215, 98 Or. Ap. 478 (1989). The state of Wyoming has held that the right to a fair trial embraces the right not to be convicted in whole or in part, upon the guilty plea of coconspirators. Capshaw v. State, 11 P. 3d 905, Wyo. (2000); see also Hall v. State, 109 P 3d 499, 2005 Wy. 35 (2005).

The Nevada Supreme Court has previously followed this line of analysis. In <u>Walden v. State</u>, 113 Nev 853, 944 P. 2d 762 (1997), the Court stated that a co-defendant's change of plea statement and penalty hearing statement in which a co-defendant admitted to stabbing the victim were <u>not</u> admissible during the guilt phase of the defendant's murder trial. The Court reversed a murder conviction in that instance.

In the instant case, the Trial Court allowed the verbatim re-enactment of Delarian Wilson's guilty plea to three (3) of the charges to which WESLEY was standing Trial. Wilson plead guilty to two (2) counts of Robbery With the Use of a Deadly Weapon and one (1) Count of Sexual Assault. Not only was the jury advised that the person who had been identified as WESLEY's coconspirator had admitted to being guilty of robbing two of the victims in the matter which was awaiting the jury's decision, but that also Wilson was admitting to aiding and abetting WESLEY in the commission of a sexual assault that they were supposed to decide WESLEY's guilt or innocence of. WESLEY could <u>not</u> confront or cross-examine that evidence. After hearing that Wilson had plead guilty to three (3) of the charges they were to decide upon, what could the jury do but find WESLEY guilty of those charges? Upon finding WESLEY guilty of those charges it was a fait accompli that WESLEY would be guilty on all charges.

Although it is conceded that the issue of bringing Wilson's guilty plea before the jury was initially brought up by WESLEY's trial counsel, it was Judge Bixler's decision to allow that improper and inflammatory information to be presented to the jury. That decision to seek the presentation of Wilson's guilty plea was <u>never</u> discussed with WESLEY and he <u>never</u> consented to the presentation of that evidence to the jury. In effect, WESLEY's attorney's "threw their client under the bus." Jones v. State, 110 Nev. 730, 877 P. 2d 1052 (1994).

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