1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2			
3			
4			
5	NARCUS S. WESLEY,) Case No. 52127	
6	Appellant,	}	
7	v.	Electronically Filed Oct 28 2009 04:20 p.m.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Tracie K. Lindeman	
9	Respondent.	_ }	
10			
11	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
12	Appeal From Judgment of Conviction and Sentence		
13	Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County		
14	DAN M. WINDER, ESQ. Law Offices of Dan M. Winder, P.C.	DAVID ROGER	
15	Nevada Bar #001569	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781	
16	ARNOLD WEINSTOCK, ESQ. Law Office of Dan M. Winder, P.C. Nevada Bar #000810	Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212

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

ARGUMENT

THE ADMISSION OF CO-DEFENDANT WILSON'S STATEMENTS DID NOT VIOLATE THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE

Appellant claims that a vast majority of the evidence incriminating Appellant was Co-Defendant Wilson's statements and since Wilson was not called to testify, Appellant's Confrontation Clause rights were violated. OB, pp. 8-9. Further, Appellant claims that "absent the statements and confessions of Co-Defendant Wilson, [Appellant] could never have been convicted beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id</u>. However, Appellant fails to identify any specific statements of Wilson that he claims violated the Confrontation Clause leaving this Court and the State to speculate about the factual basis for this claim. Notably, Wilson's taped interview by HPD was offered by Appellant and played for the jury over the objections of the State:

Ms. Kollins: Based on the motions filed pretrial, this Defendant was deprived of his right to confront Delarian Wilson, and now they are playing the very tape that implicates to some extent their client, they understand and have made that strategic decision.

For purposes of counsel, I'd ask counsel to put that on the record.

Mr. Landis: Without doubt, Judge.

Just to be clear judge, in my motion to sever I had a number of issues.

Bruton issues were one.

A second ground, as we say, with Grant testifying we intended to introduce that testimony about Delarian Wilson's prior robberies, that would have not been admissible if he was sitting here, and you are right, we are making the reasonable decision after talking to each other, and talking to his client, to admit his statement of plea and plea canvas, and we're not flying off the cuff to make this, I assure you this.

Ms. Kollins: I guess then because this is a decision the Court has made, I would ask Mr. Banks and Mr. Landis to reiterate their decision to still play this based on that ruling, because I mean, they made a decision to play this tape and waive any confrontation based on the playing of the entire tape, and if that has affected their strategy or decision at all, they need to make a record it hasn't, and they are happy with the portion that is going to be played.

I'm just looking to preserve the record, Your Honor.

Mr. Banks: Yeah, we think the whole thing should be played, with that part that concerns the Court be redacted.

I guess if – I don't know if it's a time issue.

The Court: It's not a time issue, just that it serves no purpose, it's totally irrelevant to listen to fabrications by Wilson. That serves no point.

Everybody admits they were inconsistent stories.

statements to police into evidence which were subsequently played to the jury. 6 AA 1102. During the playing of the tapes, Defense counsel continued to ask questions highlighting the inconsistencies in Wilson's statements. 6 AA 1103. Finally, highlighting the inconsistencies between Wilson's statements to police, the testimony of the victims in this case, and Wilson's subsequent guilty plea, the Defense offered Wilson's guilty plea agreement into evidence. 6 AA 1105. Accordingly, Appellant waived any Confrontation Clause violations through his counsel when he proffered Wilson's statements to the police over the objections of the State. Defense counsel also waived any Confrontation Clause violations on the record after speaking to their client. 6 AA 1099.

6 AA 1099, 1101 [emphasis added]. The Defense then offered Wilson's taped

The Confrontation Clause is meant to protect Defendants from testimonial evidence offered by the State where the Defendant would not be given an opportunity to confront witnesses against him or her. DeRose v. First Judicial Dist. Ct., 115 Nev. 225, 230-1, 985 P.2d 157, 160-1 (1999); see U.S. Const. Amend. VI., Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 85 S.Ct. 1065 (1965) [emphasis added]. The right to confrontation may be waived by the failure to object to the use of such evidence at trial, Ford v. State, 122 Nev. 796, 806, 138 P.3d 500, 507 (2006), or where a defense attorney continues to question a witness regarding the testimony objected to. See Dias v. State, 95 Nev. 710, 715, 601 P.2d 706, 709 (1979). The test for the validity of a waiver of a fundamental constitutional right is whether the defendant made an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege. Raquepaw v. State, 108 Nev. 1020, 1022, 843 P.2d 364, 366 (1992). Counsel may not waive defendant's right of confrontation over his client's objections. Id.

It is clear from the record that statements made by Wilson were offered at the insistence of defense counsel for the purpose of painting Wilson as the perpetrator of the crimes. The State asked the Defense specifically to acknowledge that the decision to offer these statements was a strategic decision. 6 AA 1099. Defense counsel stated on the record "without a doubt that they did not enter into decision to admit Wilson's plea and plea canvas lightly. 6 AA 1099. Mr. Landis stated that this was a reasonable decision that they

denied.

II.

ADMISSION OF CO-DEFENDANT WILSON'S GUILTY PLEA DURING APPELLANT'S TRIAL WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR

Appellant contends that the admission of Wilson's guilty plea is inadmissible and mandates a reversal of Appellant's conviction and a remand for a new trial. OB, p. 9. Furthermore, Appellant contends that, although it was trial counsel's idea to bring in Wilson's guilty plea, it was Judge Bixler's decision to allow the "improper and inflammatory information to be presented to the jury. Id. at p. 10. He states that this decision was never discussed with him nor did he consent to the presentation of such evidence. Id. This issue was not preserved by Appellant for appeal and therefore should be summarily dismissed. Mclellan v. State, 182 P.3d 106 (Nev. 2008). Furthermore, the evidence was proffered by the Defense in an attempt to show that Co-Defendant Wilson was the person responsible for the crimes committed. 6 AA 1099. Just because this strategy did not lend itself to an acquittal by the jury does not now mean that Appellant should be able to challenge it; in fact Appellant should be estopped from raising any objection to such evidence on appeal.

The district court heard the following arguments concerning Co-Defendant Wilson's guilty plea:

1	The Court: You want to present before this jury evidence that Delarian Wilson has pled guilty to the charges he plead guilty to last
2	week?
3	Mr. Landis: Correct.
4	* * *
5	The Court: I think if I remember correctly, I specifically had to ask
6	Defendant Wilson in regards to the sexual assault charge upon what basis he was entering a plea in the sexual assault, and he specifically described it as an aider and abettor to Co-Defendant Wesley
7	The point is, if you are going to get into this, you got to be able to get into it all the way. You really are not going to be allowed to pick
8	and choose that information that you want the jury to hear and exclude any of the other relevant information.
9	I think that that is something you are going to have to decide. I don't – or I do think that if you guys think strategically that is the right thing to do, I think you should be allowed to do it.
10	Again, you have to decide if you want to have all of that information
11	presented. But I think the full picture of his plea is going to have to be
12	presented in order to make it fair.
13	Mr. Landis: Okay. We can live with that ruling, Judge. That would include a redacted copy of the guilty plea agreement?
14	The Court: Anything, whether it's in the guilty plea agreement, the canvas, anything that pertains to anything touching upon penalty, has to
15 16	be redacted That he understands, and other than that, other than any information regarding the penalty I don't care how you do it if it's a guilty plea
17	regarding the penalty, I don't care how you do it, if it's a guilty plea agreement, if it's a canvas, if it's the Information, I think however we get it, it has to be the full picture
18	Ms. Luzaich: Then – But I also get to go into Delarian Wilson's
19	statement where he tells the police, yeah, I was there, yeah, I did this, but he and Narcus Wesley had the gun, and he and Narcus Wesley
20	committed the sexual assault, if they are going to bring that in, I get to do that as well.
21	Mr. Landis: We are not arguing any different.
22	The Court; All right. We are all on the same page.
23	Again, this all stems from their decision how they want to handle it. If they choose not to allow any of it in, that's fine, but if they choose
24	to bring it in, then that is the rule, that's how we'll approach it.
25	6 AA 1057-58 (emphasis added). Thus, at the insistence of Appellant's trial counsel,
26	Co-Defendant Wilson's guilty plea canvas and agreement were entered into evidence for
27	strategic purposes. The statements were proffered in an attempt to show that Wilson was the
28	person responsible for the crimes committed. 6 AA 1099.

28

This issue is not properly before this court since Appellant did not preserve this issue below. In fact, Appellant offered this evidence, did not object to its admission at trial, and argued vehemently for its admission over the objections of the State. Since Appellant proffered this evidence, he should now be estopped from challenging it on appeal just because its admission did not have the intended effect on the jury. <u>Carter v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 759, 121 P.3d 592 (2005). In Carter, the Nevada Supreme Court found that a sexual assault defendant was estopped from raising any objection that admission of evidence of his prior drug involvement was error, where defendant himself elicited evidence of his illegal drug use. Id. The Court determined that since the defendant participated in the "alleged error, he should be estopped from raising any objection on appeal. Id. This ruling has applied in other cases as well. See Sidote v. State, 94 Nev. 762, 587 P.2d 1317 (1978) (Defendant may not consciously invite district court action perceived as favorable to him and them claim it as error on appeal); Van Valkenberg v. State, 594 P.2d 707 (1979) (defense counsel agreed at trial to instruction so they could not challenge it on appeal). While it is generally true that a guilty plea or conviction of one person is not admissible against another charged with the same offense, Hilt v. State, 91 Nev. 654, 662, 541 P.2d 645, 650-51 (1975), where such evidence is introduced by defense counsel as part of the trial strategy the rule has no application. See People v. Burch, 22 Ill.App.3d 950, 317 N.E.2d 136 (1974). Strategy decisions by counsel are "tactical decisions and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances. Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996).

Appellant's claim that the decision to seek the admission of Co-Defendant Wilson's guilty plea was never discussed with him nor did he consent to the presentation of the evidence to the jury is belied by the record. The State requested that the Defense submit on the record that their decision to enter Co-Defendant Wilson's statements to the police and guilty plea agreement was a strategic decision and that they were in fact waiving Confrontation Clause violation claims. 6 AA 1099. Defense counsel stated that they were making this "reasonable decision after speaking to each other and to their client and that

4

5 6

9

8

11 12

10

13 14

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23 24

25 26

27

28

they were not flying "off the cuff. 6 AA 1099. Appellant was present in court when this conversation was taking place. Claiming now that he did not consent to this and that this was never discussed with him is false and is belied by the record.

Finally, Appellant's reliance upon Bruton v. United States and "Walden v. State to support his claims that Co-Defendant Wilson's statements were improperly admitted is misplaced. While it is true that the admission of a codefendant's confession in a joint trial has been found to violate a criminal defendant's right of cross-examination, Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 126, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 1622 (1968), this was not a joint trial. Furthermore, Appellant's case is distinguishable from "Walden v. State, 113 Nev. 853, 944 P.2d 762 (1997). The case referenced is actually titled Walker v. State, 113 Nev. 853, 944 P.2d 762 (1997) and Appellant's case is distinguishable. First, Appellant's attorneys were not seeking to enter into evidence any exculpatory statements offered by Co-Defendant for Appellant. Instead, trial counsel focused on Wilson admitting to his participation in the crime and later argued that since he consistently changed his story, and Appellant did not, Appellant's version of his limited involvement is the correct version. 6 AA 1103. Secondly, Appellant's trial counsel offered Wilson's statements with the intent of highlighting the inconsistent statements, not to provide exculpatory statements, which the district court judge acknowledged. 6 AA 1101. His decision to allow them into evidence was not patently unreasonable given the demonstrated defense theory. Since the admission of evidence is an abuse of discretion review, and Appellant does not demonstrate how the district court abused its discretion, Appellant's claim should be denied.

APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT MAKE ERRORS SUFFICIENT TO WARRANT SUA SPONTE REVERSAL OF APPELLANT'S CONVICTION

Appellant claims that Appellant's trial counsel was "on a frolic of their own when they admitted during opening statements that the victims had been victimized. OB, p. 11. He claims that his trial counsel admitted his guilt without discussing it with him and that he had no option to accept his counsel's "ill-fated tactics. Id. He argues that sua sponte reversal is required because Appellant's seeking and allowing Wilson's guilty plea hearing

and statements to police to be played before the jury either: "(1) had a prejudicial impact on the verdict when reviewed in the context in the trial as a whole, or (2) seriously affects the integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. <u>Id.</u> at p. 12.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should be raised in post-conviction proceedings in the district court in the first instance and are generally not appropriate for review on direct appeal. Feazell v. State, 111 Nev. 1446, 1449, 906 P.2d 727, 729 (1995). Furthermore, Appellant's trial counsel at most conceded only that certain crimes occurred but not that his client participated or was guilty of those crimes. Since the issue in this case was not whether the crimes occurred but whether Appellant aided and abetted or conspired to assist in those crimes, Appellant's claims of prejudice is without merit.

Appellant's trial counsel provided the following statements to the jury with regards to the crimes that night during his opening statement:

Mr. Landis:

I assure you when this case is over, you will realize the truth, and the truth is Delarian Wilson is the one who is responsible for what happened. Delarian Wilson is the monster.

4 AA 802-3. It is apparent from trial counsel's statements that he was not conceding Appellant's guilt but rather foisting the blame for what happened upon Wilson. An attorney cannot deprive his client of the right to have the issue of guilt or innocence presented to the jury as an adversarial issue upon which the state bears the burden of proof without committing ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 730, 737, 877 P.2d 1052, 1056 (1994). A lawyer may make a tactical determination of how to run a trial, but the due process clause does not permit the attorney to enter a guilty plea or admit facts that amount to a guilty plea without the client's consent. <u>Id.</u> In <u>Jones</u>, defense counsel conceded that he thought the evidence showed beyond a reasonable doubt that his client killed the victim but that he was guilty only of second-degree murder as he was incapable of forming the requisite intent and premeditation for first-degree murder. 110 Nev. 730, 736, 877 P.2d 1052, 1056 (1994). Notably, Jones testified that he did not kill the victim and when

8 9

10 11

12 13

14

16

15

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25

27

28

26

canvassed on the subject following the guilt phase, indicated to the trial court that he did not consent to his counsel's argument that he was not guilty of second-degree murder. Id.

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